
 
 

 

 

 
 

Local Government Act 1972 
 
I Hereby Give You Notice that the Annual Meeting of Durham County 
Council will be held in the County Hall, Durham on Wednesday 25 May 
2022 at 10.00 a.m. to transact the following business:- 
 
 

1. To elect a Chair for the ensuing year   
 

2. Presentation to Retiring Chair   
 

3. To elect a Vice-Chair for the ensuing year   
 

4. To confirm the minutes of the meeting held on 23 March 
2022  (Pages 5 - 10) 

 

5. To receive any declarations of interest from Members   
 

6. Chair's Announcements   
 

7. Leaders Announcement of Deputy Leader and Cabinet 
Members   

 

8. Annual Review of the Constitution - Report of Head of 
Legal and Democratic Services  (Pages 11 - 50) 

 

9. Appointment of Council Bodies and allocation of seats to 
Political Groups under Section 15 of the Local Government 
and Housing Act 1989 - Report of Head of Legal and 
Democratic Services  (Pages 51 - 58) 

 



 

 

 

10. To appoint Chairs and Vice-Chairs of the following 
Committees   

 

 Non-Executive/Regulatory Committees 
 

i. Appeals and Complaints Committee 
ii. Audit Committee 
iii. Chief Officer Appointments Committee 
iv. Highways Committee 
v. Statutory Licensing Committee 
vi. Statutory Licensing Sub-Committee 
vii. General Licensing and Registration Committee 
viii. General Licensing and Registration Committee’s 
ix. Standards Committee 
x. County Planning Committee 
xi. Area Planning Committee (North) 
xii. Area Planning Committee (Central and East) 
xiii. Area Planning Committee (South and West) 
 
Pension Fund Committee 
 
Corporate Parenting Panel 
 
Overview and Scrutiny Committees 
 

i. Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Management Board 
ii. Children and Young People’s Scrutiny Committee 
iii. Safer and Stronger Communities Scrutiny Committee 
iv. Environment and Sustainable Communities Scrutiny 

Committee 
v. Economy and Enterprise Scrutiny Committee 
vi. Adults, Wellbeing and Health Scrutiny Committee 

 

11. Appointments to Joint and Other Bodies 2022/23 - Report 
of Head of Legal and Democratic Services  (Pages 59 - 72) 

 

12. Statement from the Returning Officer  (Pages 73 - 74) 
 



 

 

 

13. To confirm dates of Ordinary Council meetings for 2022/23   
 

 Wednesday 22 June 2022 
Wednesday 20 July 2022 
Wednesday 21 September 2022 
Wednesday 19 October 2022 
Wednesday 7 December 2022 
Wednesday 25 January 2023 
Wednesday 22 February 2023 (Budget and Council Tax Setting) 
Wednesday 29 March 2023 
Wednesday 24 May 2023 (Annual) 

 

 
 
And pursuant to the provisions of the above-named act, I Hereby 
Summon You to attend the said meeting 
 
Dated this 17th day of May 2022 
 
 

 
Helen Lynch 

Head of Legal and Democratic Services 
 
 
To: All Members of the County Council 
 
 



This page is intentionally left blank



 

DURHAM COUNTY COUNCIL 
 
 

At an Ordinary Meeting of the County Council held in the Council Chamber, 
County Hall, Durham on Wednesday 23 March 2022 at 10.00 am 

 
 

Present: 
 

Councillor W Stelling in the Chair 
 

Councillors M Abley, R Adcock-Forster, V Andrews, J Atkinson, B Bainbridge 
(Vice-Chair), A Bell, C Bell, R Bell, G Binney, J Blakey, D Boyes, D Brown, 
L Brown, J Cairns, J Chaplow, I Cochrane, J Cosslett, B Coult, M Currah, 
S Deinali, K Earley, J Elmer, L Fenwick, C Fletcher, D Freeman, J Griffiths, 
O Gunn, C Hampson, A Hanson, K Hawley, P Heaviside, T Henderson, J Higgins, 
L A Holmes, C Hood, A Hopgood, L Hovvels, D Howarth, J Howey, C Hunt, 
G Hutchinson, M Johnson, N Jones, P Jopling, C Kay, B Kellett, C Lines, 
L Maddison, R Manchester, C Marshall, C Martin, E Mavin, L Mavin, S McDonnell, 
M McGaun, M McKeon, I McLean, S McMahon, J Miller, B Moist, P Molloy, 
D Mulholland, D Nicholls, J Nicholson, D Oliver, R Ormerod, E Peeke, R Potts, 
P Pringle, J Purvis, J Quinn, S Quinn, G Richardson, I Roberts, S Robinson, 
K Rooney, J Rowlandson, A Savory, E Scott, K Shaw, A Shield, J Shuttleworth, 
M Simmons, A Simpson, T Smith, M Stead, A Sterling, D Stoker, T Stubbs, 
A Surtees, D Sutton-Lloyd, F Tinsley, S Townsend, C Varty, E Waldock, M Walton, 
A Watson, M Wilkes, M Wilson, D Wood, R Yorke and S Zair 
 
Apologies for absence were received from Councillors E Adam, P Atkinson, 
A Batey, K Batey, R Charlton-Lainé, R Crute, T Duffy, D Hall, D Haney, S Henig, 
L Kennedy, B McAloon, D McKenna, A Reed, K Robson and P Taylor 
 

 
Prior to the commencement of the meeting the Chair thanked staff for their 
work in staging meetings of the County Council at Spennymoor Leisure 
Centre since May 2021. 
 

1 Minutes 
 
The minutes of the meeting held on 23 February 2022 were confirmed by the 
Council as a correct record and signed by the Chair. 
 

2 Declarations of Interest 
 
There were no declarations of interest in relation to any items of business on 
the agenda. 
 

Page 5

Agenda Item 4



3 Chair's Announcements  
 
The Chair congratulated Councillor Curtis Bihari on his election to the 
Ferryhill Electoral Division. 
 
The Chair informed Council that the easing of Covid restrictions had enabled 
him to attend some Civic events over the last month which included: 

 World Day of Prayer Service in St Joseph’s Church in Brooms; 

 Durham High School for Girls production of Anything Goes at the Gala 
Theatre; 

 St Cuthbert’s Day Service in Durham Cathedral; and finally the  

 High Sheriff Awards at Ushaw College in recognition of groups in the 
community who encouraged useful and beneficial pursuits for local 
young people.  This year’s awards recognised youth groups who 
worked with people affected by mental health issues and young 
offenders to help turn their lives around and also youth groups who 
worked with young people supporting them to be upstanding citizens 
and deterred from criminal activities. 

 

4 Leader's Report  
 
The Council noted a report from the Leader of the Council as follows: 
 
The Leader welcomed Members back to the Council Chamber, particularly 
those new Members from last May and Councillor Curtis Bihari for his first 
meeting of full council. 
 
Events in Ukraine hade very much overshadowed all else that was 
happening in the world and the Leader was sure that all Members would 
share her horror and sadness at the situation.  The Leader placed on record 
her thanks to all Members and everybody across the County who had 
supported the Ukrainian people in the past few weeks and for the support 
that would continue into the future. 
 
County Durham had always been a welcoming and inclusive county, 
something which was evidenced by its successful involvement in schemes to 
resettle refugees from Syria and Afghanistan.  The Leader knew that County 
Durham would once again be keen to extend the hand of friendship to those 
in need. 
 
The government had recently announced two schemes to support Ukrainian 
refugees coming to this country.  While some of the detail was awaited, local 
authorities would have a significant role to play. 
 

Page 6



The Leader undertook to keep Members updated as more was heard and 
assured Members that County Durham would be doing all it could to support 
Ukrainians forced to flee their homeland. 
 
Last week, the Council was notified by the Department for Digital, Culture, 
Media and Sport, that County Durham had been successful in being 
shortlisted for UK City of Culture 2025.  This was a fantastic achievement, 
with County Durham being just one of four areas to make it to the final stage 
from an original list of 20 locations. 
 
The impact of securing the title could not be underestimated.  It would bring 
enormous social and economic benefits not just to the county but also to the 
wider region. 
 
While the Leader was proud that County Durham had made it this far, she 
was also not surprised.  County Durham had so much to offer, not just 
stunning landscapes, amazing heritage and vibrant cultural offer but also its 
ambition and tradition of coming together to achieve something incredible. 
 
There were just a few weeks left to go until the final announcement on which 
area would take the title and the Leader encouraged all Members to show 
their support for County Durham. 
 
The Leader congratulated the Neighbourhood Warden Team on winning the 
Litter Initiative of the Year honour at the Keep Britain Tidy Network Awards.  
The award was in recognition of a scheme developed by the Team to use 
education to tackle the problem of littering, with offenders being offered the 
opportunity to complete an online course as an alternative to a Fixed Penalty 
Notice. 
 
The past month has also seen the launch of two important new facilities in 
the county which included a new hub in Sherburn Hill to provide support to 
young people who were leaving care.  It would provide a safe, supportive 
community space where care leavers could go to seek advice and support 
and also meet with others who shared their experiences. 
 
Next month saw the return of Bishop Auckland Food Festival, one of the 
highlights of the county’s cultural calendar.  This year, visitors could once 
again look forward to dozens of stalls selling local produce and freshly 
prepared goods, as well as family entertainment and cookery demonstrations 
by some famous faces.  The festival would take place on Saturday 23 and 
Sunday 24 April and the Leader encouraged Members to attend if they could. 
 
Councillor Gunn thanked the Leader for her wide-ranging report and referred 
to events in Ukraine.  Councillor Gunn asked whether the Leader had written 
to the Ukrainian Ambassador to hold out the County Council’s hand of 

Page 7



support and further asked whether there had been any requests to Ukrainian 
speaking residents to come forward for translation purposes if this became 
necessary when refugees were relocated within County Durham. 
 
The Leader thanked Councillor Gunn for her questions.  With reference to a 
letter to the Ukrainian Ambassador the protocol was for such a letter to be 
written by the Chair of the Council, adding that she was happy to do this if 
requested.  Regarding interpreters and assistance to Ukrainian refugees the 
Leader informed Council that a Working Group had been tasked with this 
which included Councillor Alan Shield as Cabinet Portfolio Holder for Equality 
and Inclusion and Members would be provided with regular updates on the 
Ukrainian refugee situation. 
 
Councillor Kay asked whether the Council was doing all it could to settle 
Ukrainian refugees within the County as soon as possible.  The Leader 
replied that the Council was doing all it could to settle Ukrainian refuges but 
had to follow guidance it was given. 
 

5 Questions from the Public  
 
There were no questions from the public. 
 

6 Petitions  
 
There were no petitions for consideration. 
 

7 Boundary Commission Review of Parliamentary Constituencies 
 
The Council considered a report of the Corporate Director of Resources 
which provided an update on the progress of the Boundary Commission 
Review of Parliamentary constituency boundaries in England (for copy see 
file of Minutes). 
 
Moved by Councillor R Bell, Seconded by Councillor Marshall and 
 
Resolved: 

(i) That the letter attached at Appendix 12 of the report be approved; 

(ii) That the Head of Legal and Democratic Services be requested to 

submit the letter to the Boundary Commission before the consultation 

closed on 6 April 2022. 

 

8 Ferryhill By-election - Statement of Returning Officer  
 
The Council noted a Statement of the Returning Officer following a by-
election held on 24 February 2022 in the Ferryhill Electoral Division. 

Page 8



 

9 Motions on Notice  
 
There were no Motions on Notice. 
 

10 Questions from Members  
 
There were no questions from Members. 
 

Page 9



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

County Council 

25 May 2022 

Annual Review of Constitution  

 

Report of Helen Lynch, Head of Legal & Democratic Services and 

Monitoring Officer 

Councillor Amanda Hopgood, Leader of the Council 

Electoral division(s) affected: 

Countywide  

Purpose of the Report 

1 To present the Constitution, as updated following the annual review, for 

adoption by Council.  

Executive summary 

2 The Council’s Constitution describes the four methods by which the 

Council operates; the Council, the Executive, Overview and Scrutiny and 

the Committees. It also provides the framework within which each must 

operate by including:  

 

(a) the rules and procedures to be followed by the Council and 

committees when conducting their business;  

(b) the decision-making powers of the Council, the Executive, 

Committees and Officers;  

(c) the financial and contract regulations;  

(d) the rights of the public;  

(e) codes of conduct for councillors and employees;  

(f) members allowances;  

 

3 The Constitution is reviewed on an annual basis with a fundamental 

review undertaken periodically. The last review of the Constitution was 

presented to Council on 24 March 2021 and was presented to Council 

for adoption on 26 May 2021.  

 

Page 11

Agenda Item 8



Recommendation(s) 

4 Council is recommended to: 

a) approve the proposed changes to the Constitution to take immediate 

effect; 

b) Request that the Head of Legal and Democratic Services publishes 

the amended Constitution on the Council’s website.  

 

Page 12



Background 

5 Section 37 of the Local Government Act 2000 requires local authorities 

operating executive arrangements to prepare and keep up to date a 

document which contains:  

 

(a) such information as the Secretary of State may direct;  

(b) the authority’s standing orders (i.e. rules of procedure);  

(c) the code of conduct for members; and 

(d) such information as the authority considers appropriate. 

 

6 The Council must ensure that copies of the above are available for 

inspection by the public at all reasonable hours and supply a copy of the 

same upon request (upon payment of such reasonable fee as we may 

determine). 

 

7 Durham County Council’s Constitution is available on the Council’s 

website.  

Methodology for the Annual Review 

8 Preparations for the annual review of the Constitution due to be 

considered by Council on 25 May 2022 commenced in the autumn of 

2021, with service representatives being contacted to request that they 

consider what, if any, changes they believed were appropriate to the 

Constitution. 

 

9 Those changes are presented within this report, together with any 

changes identified by Corporate Directors and Heads of Service as part 

of the 2022/23 update. 

 

10 The proposed changes are summarised below. Where applicable, 

relevant extracts of the Constitution showing the proposed changes are 

shown at appendices 2 - 9 of this report. 

Accessibility 

11 There is a legal requirement with limited exemptions to have documents 

which are available on public sector websites to be accessible. The 

review of the Constitution has taken into account accessibility 

requirements. This has resulted in changes in the presentation of the 

Page 13



Constitution to format, numbering and layout but does not change the 

intent or content of the document.  

 

Article 4 – The Full Council – B: Area Planning Committees 

12 The structure of the authority’s planning committees was agreed by the 

Council at its meeting on 17 December 2008. The arrangements were 

implemented on 1 April 2009. There is the County Planning Committee, 

and three Area Planning Committees. 

 

13 The County Planning Committee comprises of 16 Members of the 

Council, excluding Members of the Executive, and is responsible for the 

following, except where delegated to an officer: 

 

(i) To exercise the Council’s functions relating to town and country 

planning and development control as set out in Section A of 

Schedule 1 to the 2000 Regulations, in relation to the following 

matters: 

a. Residential development proposals involving 200 or more 

dwellings or a site area of 4 hectares or more 

b. All non-residential development proposals (including 

commercial, retail and industrial developments) of 10,000 or 

more square metres floorspace or a site area of 2 hectares or 

more. 

c. Development proposals involving the erection of one or more 

wind turbines described as Medium-Large or Large and having 

a height in excess of 40 metres to the blade tip or a site area of 

1 hectare or more. 

d. Applications for renewable energy developments (including 

Biomass, Hydro-Electric, Geothermal, Gasification or 

Photovoltaics) of 1 hectare or more. 

e. All development proposals relating to minerals or waste 

 

(ii)  Development which in the opinion of the Head of Planning 

Services is of strategic significance, including strategic schemes 

promoted by the County Council. 

 

14 There are three Area Planning Committees of: 

Page 14



 north Durham (comprising the former District Council areas of 

Chester le Street and Derwentside) 

 central and East Durham (comprising the former District Council 

areas of Durham City and Easington) 

 south and West Durham (comprising the former District Council 

areas of Sedgefield, Teesdale and Wear Valley)  

 

15 Each Area Planning Committee is comprised of 16 Members of the 

Council, with 8 members representing electoral divisions within the 

Committee’s area and 8 other members from the rest of the County 

excluding Members of the Executive. This approach was considered to 

achieve a balance between local and strategic influences.  

 

16 Except where the matter is delegated to an officer, Area Planning 

Committees have the following functions for the areas: 

(i) Functions relating to town and country planning and development 

control as set out in Section A of Schedule 1 to the 2000 

Regulations unless those matters fall within the remit of the County 

Planning Committee 

(ii) Power to make limestone pavement order 

(iii) Powers relating to the protection of important hedgerows 

(iv) Powers relating to the preservation of trees 

(v) Powers relating to complaints about high hedges. 

 

17 It should be noted that due to the boundaries, members representing the 

electoral divisions of Deerness, Esh and Witton Gilbert, Trimdon and 

Thornley, and Willington and Hunwick would be classed as local  

members for two area planning committee areas as opposed to one. 

 

18 At the annual meeting of Council, members agree to appoint the 

committees, and determine the allocation of seats to political groups 

represented on the Council on Committees in accordance with the 

provisions of Sections 15 and 16 of the Local Government and Housing 

Act 1989.  

 

19 Section 15 of the 1989 Act (Duty to Allocate Seats to Political Groups) 

sets out the requirements as to political proportionality on Council bodies 

and requires the Council, in allocating seats on committees and sub-

Page 15



committees of the Council to political groups, to give effect, so far as 

practicable, to the following four principles: 

(a) that not all seats on the committee/sub-committee are allocated to 

the same political group; 

(b) that the political group having a majority of seats on the Council 

should have a majority on each committee and sub-committee; 

(c) that, subject to (a) and (b) above, the number of seats on the 

Council’s committees and sub-committees allocated to each 

political group, bears the same proportion to the total number of 

such committee/sub-committee seats as the number of members 

of that group bears to the membership of the full Council, and 

(d) that, subject to (a) to (c) above, seats will be allocated on each 

committee and sub-committee in the same ratio as exists on the 

full Council.  

 

20 Section 16 of the 1989 Act (Duty to Give Effect to Allocations) requires 

the Council to give effect to the allocations determined in accordance 

with the wishes of the relevant group. 

 

21 These principles are applied to all committees including the four planning 

committees. In each case the determination of seats has followed the 

principles of rounding up or down, and negotiation takes place with group 

leaders to determine the final allocation. 

 

22 In relation to the Area Planning committees where membership is split 

between local members and those for the rest of the county, once the 

total allocation of seats to groups on an area committee is achieved, the 

issue arises in then determining whether those seats are for local 

members, or members from the rest of the county. Giving effect to 

allocations can be challenging where a group has a seat but not a local 

member to take up that seat. 

 

23 The split is achieved through discussion with group leaders and 

negotiation and allocated as fairly as possible bearing in mind the 

numbers of seats to groups and number of members that would fall into 

the category of local members for that committee area. Alternative ways 

have been looked at determining the split of allocation however there is 

no calculated formula in achieving this. 

 

Page 16



24 Officers were asked to consider whether seats can be allocated to local 

members rather than members from across the County. It is understood 

that there is less appetite from members to sit on an area planning 

committee which is outside of their local area. The arrangements have 

also been criticised on occasion by the public who do not consider it 

appropriate for local planning matters to be determined by Councillors 

from outside the area.  

 

25 A benchmarking exercise was undertaken with councils in the region, and 

with other Unitary Authorities which have similar population size. Of the 

10 responses received (17 authorities contacted) there is no such 

restriction on allocation to seats to members from a geographical area. 

All committee seats are allocated on political balance only. 

 

26 Constitution Working Group met on 6 December 2021 and agreed to 

recommended that Council change its arrangements so that members 

are appointed to Area Planning Committees based on their political 

affiliation in accordance with the political balance rules only, rather than 

an additional criteria relating to whether they are a local or county 

member of the area that they represent. This is the approach adopted in 

respect of appointments to other Regulatory Committees such as 

Highways and Licensing, and can be seen from the benchmarking 

exercise with other authorities.  

 

Article 4 – The Full Council – D: Chief Officer Appointment 
Committee  

27 Under the Openness and Accountability in Local Pay guidance, issued 

by the Secretary of State under section 40 of the Localism Act 2011, it 

provides that elected members should be offered the opportunity to vote 

on large salary and severance packages before they are offered in 

respect of a new appointment.  

28 For the purposes of the guidance, salary packages includes salary, any 
bonuses, fees or allowances routinely payable to the appointee and any 
benefits in kind. The Secretary of State consider that £100,000 is the 
appropriate level for that threshold to be set (this is consistent with the 
provisions in relation to exit packages) and currently such proposals are 
presented to full Council.  
 

Page 17



29 It is proposed that Council delegates this responsibility to the Chief 
Officer Appointment Committee (COAC) and that the decision of the 
COAC is reported for information at the next convenient Council meeting.  

 
30 Since Council dates are set annually in advance waiting to present 

proposals can cause delays in the recruitment process and the 
operational delivery of Council functions. The proposed change will allow 
a COAC to be convened quickly giving the requisite five clear days’ 
notice which will enable such staffing matters to be considered more 
quickly, whilst still ensuring that members are able to vote on them.  

 
31 The terms of reference for COAC will be amended to reflect this proposal 

at Article 4, paragraph D and this is shown at Appendix 2.  
 

Article 6 – The Executive 

32 Article 6 covers the appointment of the Leader at the annual meeting of 

Council following an election and how duties of the Leader are 

discharged in the event that there is a vacancy for the position of Leader. 

However, Article 6 does not provide for the appointment of a new Leader 

should a vacancy arise mid-term. It is therefore proposed to amend 

Article 6 to enable the appointment of a Leader at an ordinary meeting of 

Council following a casual vacancy arising.   

 

33 Article 6 is also silent on how a new Leader is appointed in the event that 

the Leader is removed by motion on notice to Council (in accordance with 

Council Procedure Rules). This scenario is provided for under section 91 

of the Local Government Act 1972, which states that where Council 

passes a resolution to remove the Leader, a new Leader is to be elected 

at the meeting at which the Leader is removed from office or at a 

subsequent meeting.   It is therefore proposed to update Article 6 to 

reflect the legislative position for completeness.  

 

34 Article 6 sets out when vacancies in the office of Leader and Deputy 

Leader arise. Reference is made to them being suspended from being a 

councillor under Part III of the Local Government Act 2000. However, 

these provisions were repealed by the Localism Act 2011 so these 

references are to be deleted. The proposed changes to Article 6 are 

shown at Appendix 3 of this report 

 

  

Page 18



Part 3 - Delegations to Officers 

35 There are a small number of technical changes that have been made to 

the scheme of delegations, to reflect the organisational changes and the 

work within the respective Directorates.  

 

36 The Head of Legal and Democratic Services has delegated authority to 

make technical changes to the Constitution and as such the scheme of 

delegations will be updated to ensure that the work within each 

Directorate are accurate and reflect the staffing structures. These have 

not been reproduced for the purpose of this report. 

 

37 The Resources Directorate and Regeneration, Economy and Growth 

Directorate are consulting on Heads of Service restructures which will be 

implemented after the 1 April 2022. The changes to the scheme of 

delegation arising from the restructures are anticipated to be technical 

changes and the Head of Legal and Democratic Services will exercise 

her delegated authority to make the technical in year changes which 

includes to updates to the Constitution to reflect decisions of the Council, 

other Council bodies, to reflect changes in legislation and to correct 

inaccuracies.  

Table 3 – Corporate Director for Regeneration, Economy and 

Growth 

38 It is proposed that the delegation for the Head of Corporate Property and 

Land is amended in respect of approving the principle of acquiring 

property at a price not exceeding £100,000. The proposed change is to 

increase the limit to £250,000 to reflect market conditions. The change 

will appear at the relevant paragraph within Table 3.  

 

39 Similarly, it is proposed to incorporate a new financial limit of £250,000 to 

the existing delegation for the Head of Corporate Property and Land to 

negotiate the acquisition of easements, rights of way, wayleaves, 

licences, covenants and consents for the benefit of Council land and 

property. The change will appear at the relevant paragraph within Table 

3.  

 

40 It is proposed that the scheme of delegation for the Head of Development 

and Housing is updated to reflect the work of the Council in providing 

Council housing. This incorporation ensures that there are clear and 

specific delegations in respect of the work of the Council as a local 

Page 19



housing authority. The responsibilities relate to the day to day 

management of housing stock such as the granting and termination of 

tenancies and licences, providing consents of succession, assignment 

and mutual exchanges. The proposed changes are shown at Appendix 4 

of this report. The responsibility for functions within Article 6 will also be 

updated to reflect that the Portfolio Holder of Recourses, Investment and 

Assets will include Council housing. 

 

41 It is also proposed that the amendment to the scheme of delegation in 

respect of planning matters agreed 22 May 2020 and reported to Council 

on 21 October 2020 is removed.  

 

42 Due to advice from central government regarding social distancing during 

the Covid-19 pandemic, there were restrictions on meetings of the 

County Council or any of its committees from 18 March 2020 and this led 

to a backlog of planning applications requiring determination. 

 

43 The Chief Planner in his March 2020 Planning Update Newsletter 

encouraged Authorities to “consider delegating committee decisions 

where appropriate.” To assist the council to meet statutory timeframes in 

respect of determining applications and to provide some certainty to 

business, it was agreed that all matters are delegated to the Interim 

Corporate Director of Regeneration, Economy & Growth other than those 

which the Head of Development and Housing considers are likely to have 

a significant impact on the environment or are by their nature particularly 

controversial or those which have been properly called in by Member or 

Local Council.  

 

44 This arrangement has been kept under review which was introduced 

where planning committees were unable to be convened due to 

exceptional circumstances (in this instance the pandemic). In light of the 

lifting of the restrictions and the reinstatement of meetings in person it is 

considered appropriate to remove the emergency provisions. The 

proposed change is shown at Appendix 5 of this report.  

 

Council Procedure Rules 

45 The Council Procedure Rules require that written notice of every motion, 

must be delivered to the Head of Legal and Democratic Services not later 

Page 20



than 5.00 p.m. on the seventh working day before the Council meeting at 

which it is to be considered.  

 

46 It is proposed that the Council Procedure Rules stipulate that where the 

written notice is sent by electronic mail, it is sent 

motions@durham.gov.uk which will be monitored on behalf of the 

Monitoring Officer.  An extract of the Council Procedure Rules showing 

the proposed update is shown at Appendix 6. 

Executive Procedure Rules 

47 The Executive Procedure Rules (EPRs) make provision for members of 
the public to ask questions of members of the Cabinet on matters of 
concern or interest, during the first formal item of business at every 
ordinary cabinet meeting.  

48 Members of the public may also ask questions of members of the 
Cabinet on reports that are to be considered by the Executive which are 
listed on the agenda for that meeting.  

49 The deadline for public questions is midday three working days before 
the day of the meeting (the Friday before the meeting on a Wednesday).  

50 In respect of questions from Members, the rules provides that “there is no 
general right for non-cabinet members to address Cabinet at their 
meetings, however if the decision to be made affects their division, or 
they have some other relevant consideration this may be accepted 
subject to rule 2.7.2. 

51 Rule 2.7.2 requires that a member wishing to ask a question must 
provide the question to the Head of Legal and Democratic Services no 
later than 2pm, two working days before the day of the meeting (Monday 
before the meeting on a Wednesday). They must indicate their reason for 
asking the question. The Head of Legal and Democratic Services in 
consultation with the Leader of the Council will determine whether the 
question can be asked.  

52 Rule 2.8.1 deals with the scope of questions. The Head of Legal and 
Democratic Services may reject a question from the public if it does not 
relate to a matter of concern or interest.  

53 With regard to questions on reports, the rules provide that the Head of 
Legal and Democratic Services may reject a question from the public or a 
member if it:  

(a) is not about a matter for which the Executive is going to consider an 
item on the agenda for the meeting;  

Page 21

mailto:motions@durham.gov.uk


(b) is defamatory, frivolous or offensive;  

(c) is vexatious or abusive;  

(d) is substantially the same or similar to a question which has been put 
at a meeting of the Executive in the past six months;  

(e) requires the disclosure of confidential or exempt information;  

(f) is lengthy, or a speech;  

(g) relates to a matter which is of purely personal concern to an 
individual or family members; 

(h) relates to court action or threatened court action that the 
person/group are taking against the Council; 

(i) if a request for compensation; 

(j) contains a statement which is untrue 

(k) is an unintelligible question.  

54 Questions are asked in the order in which they were received and at the 
time the agenda item is being considered. The Leader will invite the 
questioner to put the question to the Member named in the notice. If a 
questioner who has submitted a written question is unable to be present, 
a written reply will be given after the meeting. A restriction of 5 minutes 
per question will be applied, except at the discretion of the Leader.  

55 Unless the Leader decides otherwise, no discussion will take place on 
any question.  

56 There has been an increase in the number of questions being submitted 
by Members. During this municipal year, in September 2021 three 
questions were asked by a Member on behalf of the Member who 
submitted the question and five in October 2021.  In some cases, the 
member submitting the question explained why they were unable to 
attend (prior commitment/funeral) but others did not.  

57 Given the volume of questions being received since the election, often 
close to the deadline (2pm on the Monday before the meeting) it is 
becoming challenging for them to be reviewed to check that they are 
permitted under the rules and for responses to be prepared.  

58 Proposed changes to the Executive Procedure Rules are shown at 
Appendix 7. It is suggested that the deadline for Member questions is 
amended to be consistent with the deadline for public questions i.e. noon 
three working days before the meeting. This would provide more time for 

Page 22



the Head of Legal and Democratic Services to the review the questions 
and consult with the Leader of the Council as appropriate and for 
responses to be prepared.  

59 The Constitution states that questions should be submitted to the Head of 
Legal and Democratic Services. Historically, members have used a 
dedicated email address for Cabinet questions: 
cabinetquestions@durham.gov.uk. It is suggested that the EPRs are 
updated to show the generic email to be used for questions to be 
submitted.   

60 It is also recommended that the EPRs are amended to clarify the 
requirement that Members state their reason for asking the question. This 
requirement would perhaps be more helpful if it read “Members state the 
capacity in which they are asking the question (e.g. as Ward Councillor; 
Committee Member, Shadow Portfolio Holder, etc).   

Contract Procedure Rules  

61 The Contract Procedure Rules (CPRs) form part of the Constitution of the 

Council. The Constitution is updated annually, in a review process which 

runs from December to March. As part of this process Corporate 

Procurement is required to review the CPRs and put forward any 

amendments that may be required to ensure that the rules reflect the 

current practice, guidance and relevant legislation. The proposed 

changes appear at Appendix 8 of this report.  

 

62 The key changes are summarised as follows: 

 Additional points added to Rule 5 contracts and/or payments that are 

exempt from the CPRs: 

 Handling charge fees related to penalty charge notices issued by the 

Council. 

 Creation of exemption for imprest accounts related to contracts 

compliantly procured under the CPRs and Public Contract 

Regulations 2015. 

 Advertising of statutory notices (such as planning notices). 

 Addition to point ‘x’ to include the Council’s duty to provide services 

under the Homelessness Reduction Act 2018. 

 

63 Some overall minor updates have been made with regard to corrections 

of previous typing errors or formatting, these are not significant, and 

therefore have not been itemised. 

 

Page 23

mailto:cabinetquestions@durham.gov.uk/


64 Officers considered whether there was any need to amend the 

competitive procurement threshold. On balance it is felt that retaining the 

£5,000 threshold is sensible at the present time as this permits 

appropriate control of spend and visibility of contracts awarded. 

 

65 There are expected changes in 2022 relating to the new Procurement Bill 

and Health Care Bill which will have implications to public contracting 

rules on receiving Royal Assent.  The Head of Legal and Democratic 

Services will make any in-year changes required under her delegation 

referred to at paragraph 37 above. 

 

Protocol on Member Officer Relations 

66 The Council has previously adopted a Consultative Charter (the Charter), 
which sets out principles of communication and the provision of 
information to elected Members.  

67 The Charter used to form part of the Constitution until it was taken out in 
May 2018 following a review, which sought to streamline the Constitution 
and remove repetition.  It has remained available on the Council’s 
intranet.  

68 The Council has also adopted a Protocol on Member Officer Relations 
(the Protocol), which was retained within the Constitution during the 
2017/18 review although it has been amended during subsequent 
reviews. It also contains provisions relating to the provision of information 
to elected Members.  

69 There have been recent examples where local members have reported 
that they have not been informed of matters relating to their areas. 
Officers have therefore been asked to consider whether the Charter can 
be re-introduced as part of the Council’s Constitution.  

70 On 21 October 2021, Constitution Working Group considered the Charter 

and the Protocol and requested that the Protocol be amended so that it 

fully reflected the provisions of the Consultative Charter. They also 

requested some amendments to clarify the type of information that local 

members should be provided with and the circumstances in which these 

are provided.  The proposed changes to the Protocol is shown at 

Appendix 9.  

  

Page 24



Financial Procedure Rules 

71 The Financial Procedure Rules have been reviewed with no substantive 

changes to be made. A minor amendment is proposed to remove the 

date of the Code of Practice and replace with the words Code of Practice 

in place at the time of application.  

 

Cabinet 

72 Cabinet considered the proposed changes at its meeting on 6 April 

2022. Cabinet approved the delegation of executive functions as set out 

in the report and agreed to recommend to Council that the amended 

Constitution be approved and adopted at Council on 25 May 2022.  

Background papers 

None 

Other useful documents 

None 

 

Author(s) 

Kamila Coulson-Patel    Tel:  03000 269674 

 

  

Page 25



Appendix 1:  Implications 

 

Legal Implications 

The statutory requirements in relation to the Council’s Constitution are set out 
at paragraph 5 in the report.  
 

Finance 
The review of the Constitution has no financial implications.  
 

Consultation 
Relevant officers have been consulted on the proposed changes to the 
Constitution. The report was presented to Cabinet on 6 April 2022.  
 

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty 
There are no equality and diversity implications arising out of this report. The 
Constitution is available in an accessible format. The annual reviews ensure 
that relevant provisions have regard to the Council’s obligations under the 
public sector equality duty. 
 

Climate Change 
None specific within this report. 
 

Human Rights 
None specific within this report. 
 

Crime and Disorder 
None specific within this report.  
 

Staffing 
None specific within this report.  
 

Accommodation 
None specific within this report.  
 

Risk 
None specific within this report. 
  

Procurement 
None specific within this report.  
  

Page 26



Appendix 2: Chief Officer Appointment Committee 

 

Comprised of 11 Members of the Council including the Leader and Deputy 

Leader, the Chief Officer Appointment Committee will expand to include 2 

voting co-opted Independent Persons in the case of proposed disciplinary 

action against a Statutory Officer, and shall be responsible for:  

(i) Appointment of the Chief Executive (subject to confirmation by the 

full council) and chief officers and associated functions under 

Section 112 of the Local Government Act 1972 in relation to those 

officers.  

(ii) Dismissal of Chief Officers, subject to the provisions contained in the 

Officer Employment Procedure Rules regarding the dismissal of 

Statutory Officers.  

(iii) Appointment and dismissal of the Director of Public Health 

(committee to act as advisory appointments committee, the 

appointment is subject to the approval of the Secretary of State for 

Health)  

(iv) To make recommendations to Full Council regarding a decision to 

dismiss a Statutory Officer. 

(v) Officer appointments where the salary package is £100,000 or more 

which will be reported to the next convenient meeting of Council for 

information.  

(vi) Officer severance packages of £100,000 or more which will be 

reported to the next convenient meeting of Council for information. 

 

  

Page 27



Appendix 3:  Article 6 – The Executive 

 

6.1 Deputy Leader 
 

The Deputy Leader will hold office until the end of the term of office of the 
Leader, unless before that date: 

 
(a) they resign from office; or 

 
(b) they are disqualified from being a councillor; or they are suspended from 

being a councillor under Part III of the Local Government Act 2000 (as 
amended) (although they may resume office at the end of the period of 
suspension unless they have, during that period, been removed from 
office by the Leader); or 

 
(c) they are no longer a councillor; or 

 
(d) they are removed from office by the Leader. 

 

6.2 Other Executive Members 
 

Other Executive Members will hold office for such period as the Leader shall 
determine unless during that period: 
 
(a) they resign from office; or 

 
(b) they are suspended from being councillors under Part III of the Local 

Government Act 2000 (as amended) (although they may resume office at 
the end of the period of suspension unless they have, during that period 
been removed from office by the Leader); or 

 
(c) they cease to be councillors. 

 

6.3 Executive Support Members 
 

(a) The Leader may appoint and remove at their discretion up to 10 
councillors to be Executive Support Members, to support and assist the 
Executive as a whole or individual members of the Executive. 
 

(b) Executive Support Members may not be members of any Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee, or Audit Committee or the Chair of the Council. 

 
(c) Executive Support Members may not substitute or represent an Executive 

Member at meetings of the Executive or a committee of the Executive, or 
require an item to be placed on the agenda of such meetings; nor may 
they exercise any executive function delegated to an Executive Member. 

  

Page 28



6.4 Vacancies or Inability to Act 
 

(a) Where a vacancy occurs in the office of Deputy Leader, the Leader will 
appoint another person in their place; 

 
(b) If for any reason the Leader is unable to act, or the office of Leader is 

vacant, the Deputy Leader will act in their place; 
 

(c) if for any reason: 
 

i) the Leader is unable to act or the office of Leader is vacant; and 
ii) the Deputy Leader is unable to act or the office of Deputy Leader is 

vacant; 
 

the Executive will act in the Leader’s place or arrange for a member of the 
Executive to act in their place. 

 
(d) In the case of a vacancy of the Leader, an election to fill the vacancy shall 

be held not later than the next ordinary meeting of the Council held after 
the date on which the vacancy occurs, or if that meeting is held within 14 
days after that date, then not later than the next following ordinary 
meeting of the Council. The Proper Officer may convene a meeting of the 
Council for such an election 

 

(e) If the Council passes a resolution to remove the Leader from office, 

it will elect a new Leader at the meeting at which the Leader is 

removed or at a subsequent meeting.  

 

6.5 Responsibility for functions 
 

(a) The Leader may discharge any executive function of the Council. 
 

(b) The Leader may arrange for the discharge of any executive function 
 

i) by the Executive; 
ii) by another member of the Executive; 
iii) by a committee of the Executive, or 
iv) by an officer of the Council 

 
(c) The table below indicates how the Leader has allocated portfolios (lead 

responsibilities) for particular executive functions among individual 
Members of the Executive.  Portfolio holders do not have delegated 
powers.  

 

  

Page 29



Appendix 4:  Head of Development and Housing 

 

1. The management of all matters required to ensure the Council carries out 

its statutory duties as a local housing authority as prescribed in: 

 Housing Act 1985 

 Housing Act 1996 

 Housing Act 2004 

 Local Government and Housing Act 1989  

 Localism Act 2011 

 Housing and Planning Act 2016 

 The Regulatory Framework set out by the Regulator for Social 

Housing; and 

 Any other relevant statute or government guidance relating to the 

management and provision of social housing and related facilities. 

2. In conjunction with the Head of Corporate Finance and Commercial 

Services maintain a Housing Revenue Account in accordance with 

sections 74 – 78 of the Local Government and Housing Act 1989. 

3. To exercise the Council’s functions in respect of the preparation and 

development of appropriate strategies and plans for the Council’s 

housing stock, including the Housing Investment Programme and 

Cyclical Maintenance Programmes including the construction, repair, 

maintenance, modernisation and redevelopment and renewal of 

properties including (but not limited to) house condition surveys and the 

preparation and implementation of programmes of repair and 

improvement; 

4. To prepare and keep under review from time to time the Council’s 

Tenancy Strategy in line with the requirements of the Localism Act 2011. 

5. In consultation with the Head of Corporate Finance and Commercial 

Services to take any decisions on the selection of property where it is 

appropriate to charge an affordable rent in line with the Regulator for 

Social Housing’s Rent Standard. 

6. Exercising the management of functions of the Council in relation to 

dwellings owned by the Council but not held under Part IV of the Housing 

Act 1985. 

Page 30



7. Without prejudice to the foregoing delegations, to exercise the following 

functions of the Council: 

a. authorising the allocation and granting of tenancies and licenses in 

accordance with the Council’s allocation scheme; 

b. approving rents in specific cases; 

c. serving and enforcing notices, to quit, of termination or seeking 

possession; 

d. maintaining properties and estates; 

e. The management of empty properties; 

f. granting consent or otherwise to the succession or assignment of a 

tenancy where statute allows and in line with the Council’s policy;  

g. granting consent to mutual exchanges, imposing conditions to that 

consent where appropriate or refusing such consent with reference 

to Schedule 3 of the Housing Act 1985 

h. granting consent, imposing conditions to that consent where 

appropriate or otherwise withholding tenants’ requests to carry out 

improvements or alterations in accordance with the Housing Act 

1985 sections 97-99 

i. granting consent or otherwise in any other matter where the 

Council’s tenancy agreement including introductory tenancy 

agreement or licensees requires that permission is sought by the 

tenant or licensee;  

j. authorising compensation for tenants’ improvements be they 

statutory or discretionary (Housing Act 1985 sections 99a and 100);  

k. settling any claims by tenants for disrepair, 

l. taking action under sections 1 and 115 of the Crime and Disorder 

Act 1998, Part V of the Housing Act 1996, Anti-Social Behaviour Act 

2003 and Housing Act 2004; 

m. taking action to secure the eviction of trespassers; 

n. undertaking consultation with tenants and / or social landlords where 

required by statute or government guidance or where otherwise 

appropriate e.g. section 105 of the Housing Act 1985; and 

Page 31



o. authorise the granting of licenses for the use of garages, reviewing 

license conditions and subsequent termination of licenses where 

necessary. 

8. Carry out the Council's statutory responsibilities under Part V of the 

Housing Act 1985 (Right to Buy). 

• Authorising service of statutory notices, admitting / denying the right 

to buy, withdrawing or requiring completion. 

• Authorising sales of freehold or otherwise granting of long leases 

9. In consultation with the Head of Legal and Democratic Services, 

enforcing covenants including those relating to repayment of discount, 

use of shared areas and letting of whole. 

10. In consultation with the Head of Legal and Democratic Services 

a. Agreeing variations to the terms of individual leases. 

b. Granting/refusing permission to requests on various matters, by 

leaseholders, where the lease requires consent of the landlord.  

c. Authorising legal action for breaches of covenants. 

11. Determining the application of covenants applied in relation to the Right 

to Buy under section 157 of the Housing Act 1985 relating to homes in 

areas covered by National Parks, Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty 

and Designated Rural Areas relating to: 

a. Restriction of onward sales to people who have lived or worked in 

the area for a period of 3 years, or 

b. Exercising the Council’s first right of refusal to repurchase the 

property within first 10 years following the Right To Buy (RTB) 

sale. 

12. Exercising the functions of the Council under Part X of the Housing Act 

1985 and Part IV, Chapter 3, and Part VII of the Housing Act 2004 in 

relation to overcrowding. 

13. Exercising the functions of the Council under the Protection from Eviction 

Act 1977, the Protection from Harassment Act 1997 and all other 

enabling powers to regulate and control private landlords. 

14. Exercising the functions of the Council under the Landlord and Tenant 

Act 1985 (landlord’s obligations). 

Page 32



15. In consultation with the Head of Corporate Finance and Commercial 

Services, write off irrecoverable debt due from current and former tenants 

in compliance with the Council’s write off policy.  

16. In consultation with the Head of Corporate Finance and Commercial 

Services, write off any un-refundable Credit balances associated with 

untraceable former tenants in compliance with the Council’s write off 

policy.  

17. To determine disturbance payments and applications for home loss 

payments in accordance with the Land Compensation Act 1973. 

18. Undertaking and determining reviews under the Introductory Tenants 

(Review) Regulations 1997. 

19. To make decisions under Access to Personal Files (Housing) 

Regulations 1989. 

20. To authorise payments to tenants for decoration and removal expenses 

or approve ex-gratia payments in appropriate circumstances. 

21. Agreeing terms with private landlords and registered social landlords to 

lease accommodation for the purposes of providing temporary housing 

for homeless households. 

22. To consider and determine any matters relating to the Housing Act 1985 

(as amended in respect of Right to Buy including the repayment of 

discount and right of first refusal. 

23. To ensure compliance with all Council policies relating to the provision 

and management of Council owned residential properties. Council to 

make changes to all such policies where provision of service would be 

improved, or necessity arises or to recommend such changes to Cabinet 

where appropriate. 

24. To establish such arrangements as appropriate to ensure effective 

engagement of tenants and leaseholders in the setting, monitoring and 

review of housing and related services including holding meetings, 

organising consultation events, surveys, and newsletters. 

25. To consider and respond to requests from Durham Police in respect of 

the designation of dispersal areas under the provisions of the Anti- Social 

Behaviour Crime and Policing Act 2014.  

Page 33



Appendix 5:  Extract of Table 3 - Delegation to the Corporate 

Director for Regeneration, Economy and Growth 

 

Specific and non-executive delegations 

1. To review decisions made by the Head of Property and Land relating to the 

list of assets of community value. 

 

1A. In consultation with the Chair of the relevant Committee (or in their 

absence, the Vice Chair of the relevant Committee) and the Head of Legal 

and Democratic Services (or their nominated representative), to determine the 

following matters: 

 

a) Major developments (excluding s73 Reserved Matter applications and 

Review of Mineral Planning Permissions) comprising: 

(i) major residential developments (10 or more dwellings or a site area of 

0.5ha or greater) except where the application is for a substitution of house 

types on a scheme already benefitting from an extant planning permission; 

(ii) development of more than 20,000m² of floor space or a site area of 4ha or 

greater comprised in Use Class B1 (Business) and/or Use Class B2 (General 

Industrial) and/or Use Class B8 (Storage or Distribution) or waste and waste 

related development; or 

(iii) development not falling within (i) and (ii) above, where the floor space is 

1000m² (gross) or more or the site area is 1 hectare or more except 

applications where the use or building would be for agriculture or personal 

equestrian use; 

b) those applications for planning permission, other applications and 

notifications which have a relevant timescale of more than 35 days 

recommended for refusal which involve the creation of 10 or more full time 

or equivalent jobs; 

c) those applications for planning permission or notifications which have a 

relevant timescale of more than 35 days where there is a significant 

departure from Development Plan policy and which would be required to 

be the subject of a notification to the Secretary of State. 

 

1B. To discharge any function of the Executive in relation to communication. 

 

The following matters are, in addition, delegated to the Head of Development 

and Housing: 

Page 34



 

2. To exercise the Council’s functions in relation to housing including: 

a) the determination of any applications for grant and/or housing 

assistance loans; 

 

b) the exercise of the Council’s enforcement powers under the legislation 

relating to private sector housing; 

c) to investigate and determine all applications made to the Council under 

its powers and duties to deal with homelessness; 

d) to authorise any expenditure required in the exercise of the Council’s 

functions to assist the homeless. 

 

3. To carry out the Council’s functions in relation to permanent Gypsy, Roma 

and Traveller sites, including allocation of sites, site management, rent 

recovery and tenant support. 

 

4. Subject to paragraph 1A, To determine all forms of planning and other 

applications and all notifications submitted under the Town and Country 

Planning Act 1990, the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) 

Act 1990, the Planning (Hazardous Substances) Act 1990 or under any 

related principal or secondary legislation, except the following: 

 

a) those applications for planning permission, other applications and 

notifications which have a relevant timescale of more than 35 days 

that any Member of the Council requests be determined by the 

Planning Committee (such must be made in writing to the Head of 

Development and Housing specifying material planning grounds on 

which the request is made and received by the Head of Development 

and Housing within 21 days of publication on the weekly list or the 

initial publication of the proposal (site notice / press notice / service of 

neighbour consultation letters, whichever is the latest); 

b) those applications for planning permission, other applications and 

notifications which have a relevant timescale of more than 35 days 

where a Member of the Council or an officer of the Planning 

Development Service or their spouse/partner or children has an 

interest in the property or land which is the subject of the application or 

notification and where there is an objection to the application or 

notification; 

c) those applications for planning permission, other applications and 

notifications which have a relevant timescale of more than 35 days 

Page 35



where, despite a Town or Parish Council having expressed objection 

or support, the officer is minded to recommend the application or 

notification on material planning grounds contrary to the wishes of the 

local council and:  

 

i) the local council have made a specific request in writing for 

the application or notification to go before a planning 

committee; and 

ii) the local council have confirmed their intention to attend the 

planning committee to make representations on the 

application; and 

iii) the written request is received by the Head of Development 

and Housing within 21 days of publication on the weekly list 

or the initial publication of the proposal (site notice / press 

notice / service of neighbour consultation letters, whichever 

is the latest); 

 

d) Major developments (excluding s73 Reserved Matter applications and 

Review of Mineral Planning Permissions) comprising: 

(i) major residential developments (10 or more dwellings or a site area 

of 0.5ha or greater) except where the application is for a substitution 

of house types on a scheme already benefitting from an extant 

planning permission; 

 

(ii) development of more than 20,000m² of floor space or a site area 

of 4ha or greater comprised in Use Class B1 (Business) and/or Use 

Class B2 (General Industrial) and/or Use Class B8 (Storage or 

Distribution) or waste and waste related development; or 

 

(iii) development not falling within (i) and (ii) above, where the floor 

space is 1000m² (gross) or more or the site area is 1 hectare or 

more except applications where the use or building would be for 

agriculture or personal equestrian use; 

 

(e) those applications for planning permission, other applications and 

notifications which have a relevant timescale of more than 35 days 

likely to have, in the opinion of the Head of Development and Housing, 

a significant impact on the environment or are by their nature 

particularly controversial; 

  

Page 36



f) those applications for planning permission, other applications and 

notifications which have a relevant timescale of more than 35 days 

recommended for refusal which involve the creation of 10 or more full 

time or equivalent jobs; 

 

g) those applications for planning permission or notifications which have a 

relevant timescale of more than 35 days where there is a significant 

departure from Development Plan policy and which would be required to 

be the subject of a notification to the Secretary of State. 

  

Page 37



Appendix 6:  Extract of Council Procedure Rules 

 

10. MOTIONS ON NOTICE 

10.1 Application of Rules 

Rules 10.2 to 10.7 do not apply to motions on notice under rule 10.8. 

 

10.2 Notice 

Except for motions which can be moved without notice under Rule 11, written 

notice of every motion, must be delivered to the Head of Legal and 

Democratic Services not later than 5.00 p.m. on the seventh working day 

before the Council meeting at which it is to be considered. The notice may 

also be given by electronic mail sent to motions@durham.gov.uk.  

 

10.3 Motion set out in agenda 

Motions for which notice has been given will be listed on the agenda in the 

order determined by the Chair. 

 

10.4 Scope 

Motions must be about matters for which the Council has a responsibility or 

which affect the County. 

  

Page 38



Appendix 7:  Executive Procedure Rules  

 

2.7 Questions by Members  

On reports to be considered by the Executive  

2.7.1 A member of the Council may wish to ask questions of Members of the 

Executive on reports that are to be considered by the Executive which are 

listed on the agenda for that meeting. There is no general right for non 

Cabinet members to address Cabinet at their meetings, however if the 

decision to be made affects their division, or they have some other relevant 

consideration this may be accepted subject to rule 2.7.2  

Notice of questions  

2.7.2 A member wishing to ask a question must give notice by delivering the 

question in writing or by electronic mail to cabinetquestions@durham.gov.uk 

for the attention of the Head of Legal and Democratic Services at no later than 

14.00 hrs 2 working days  noon 3 working days before the day of the meeting, 

and must indicate their reason for asking the question state the capacity in 

which they are asking the question (e.g Ward Councillor; Committee Member, 

Shadow Portfolio Holder, etc). The Head of Legal and Democratic Services in 

consultation with the Leader of the Council will determine whether the 

question can be asked.  

Order of questions 

2.7.3 Questions will be asked in the order notice of them was received, and at 

the time that the agenda item was being considered.  

Asking the question at the meeting  

2.7.4 The Leader will invite the questioner to put the question to the Member 

named in the notice. If a questioner who has submitted a written question is 

unable to be present, a written reply will be given after the meeting. A 

restriction of 5 minutes per question will be applied, except at the discretion of 

the Leader.  

2.8 Questions  

Scope of questions  

2.8.1 The Head of Legal and Democratic Services may reject a question from 

the public if it:  

Page 39

mailto:cabinetquestions@durham.gov.uk


(a) does not relate to a matter of concern or interest; or The Head of Legal 

and Democratic Services may also reject a question from the public or a 

Member if it:  

(b) Subject to 2.8.1(a) above, is not about a matter for which the Executive is 

going to consider an item on the agenda for the meeting;  

(c) is defamatory, frivolous or offensive;  

(d) is vexatious or abusive;  

(e) is substantially the same or similar to a question which has been put at a 

meeting of the Executive in the past six months; 

(f) requires the disclosure of confidential or exempt information;  

(g) is lengthy, or a speech; 

(h) relates to a matter which is of purely personal concern to an individual or 

family members;  

(i) relates to court action or threatened court action that the person or group 

are taking against the Council;  

(j) is a request for compensation;  

(k) contains a statement which is untrue;  

(l) is an unintelligible question.  

Record of questions 

2.8.2 The Head of Legal and Democratic Services will immediately send a 

copy of the question to the Member to whom it is to be put. Rejected 

questions will include reasons for rejection.  

The questions asked at the meeting and the responses will be referred to in 

the minutes of the meeting.  

Written answers  

2.8.3 Any question which cannot be dealt with during public question time, 

either because of lack of time or because of the non-attendance of the 

Member to whom it was to be put, will be dealt with by a written answer.  

Reference of question to the Executive 

2.8.4 Unless the Leader decides otherwise, no discussion will take place on 

any question.  

Page 40



Appendix 8:  Extract of Contract Procedure Rules 

 

5. EXEMPTIONS 

 

5.1 The following contracts and/or payments are exempt from these CPRs: 

 

(a) Contracts for the execution of mandatory works by statutory 

undertakers, where the statutory undertaker is the only body which can 

perform the works. Such statutory undertakers include: 

i. British Telecom – specifically for telecoms infrastructure 

works. 

ii. Network Rail – specifically for works affecting the railway 

infrastructure. 

iii. Northern Gas Networks – specifically for gas supply 

infrastructure works. 

iv. Northern PowerGrid – specifically for electricity infrastructure 

works. 

v. Northumbria Water – specifically for water and sewerage 

infrastructure works. 

vi. Highways England – specifically for works to the core road 

network under their management. 

 

(b) Statutory fees payable: 

 

i. to the Driver & Vehicle Licensing Agency and/or Drive & 

Vehicle Standards Agency (formerly VOSA). 

ii. to the Disclosure & Barring Service. 

iii. to the Care Quality Commission under section 85(1) of the 

Health and Social Care Act 2008. 

iv. set by government for education or inter-agency adoption 

funding.  

v. to Ofsted for the inspection of a school, children’s home, or 

other facility, 

vi. for TV licenses in Council owned or operated premises. 

vii. for Phonographic Performance Ltd or PRS for Music, for 

the playing of recorded music in public, or for the use of the 

musical composition and lyrics in that recording. 

Page 41



viii. to NHS Business Services Authority for prescription 

charges. 

ix.  for fees incurred for Parking Charge Notices issued by the 

Council. 

x.  Fees payable to Public Health England with respect to the 

Child Death Notification Service. 

 

(c) For the creation of imprest account relating to contracts let that have 

followed a compliant procurement process. 

 

(d) Contracts for the carrying out of statutory public health funerals under the 

Part 3 of the Public Health (Control of Disease) Act 1984. 

 

(e) Contracts for the purchase of newspaper advertising for statutory notices, 

and contracts for the purchase of broadcasting time, including for the 

placing of radio and television advertising. 

 

(f) Contracts to provide sponsorship to events, awards schemes, or other 

promotional activity being organised by a third party. 

 

(g) Fees payable in advance on an annual basis for publications, access to 

online information and membership fees, only delivered by the publishing 

body, and membership fees of a recognised industry body membership 

programme. Use of this exemption must be followed up with a 

Procurement Acceptance Report as detailed in Rule 19. 

 

(h) Contracts for actors or performers to meet the specific requirements of an 

artistic, cultural, or performing arts event being organised by the council. 

 

(i) Contracts of employment which make an individual a direct employee of 

the authority. 

 

(j) A staff secondment, where an employee of another organisation shall 

work on a Council project, on a temporary basis, but where they will not 

become an employee of the Council. 

 

NB: While the CPRs do not apply to staff secondments, authorisation to 

proceed must be obtained from Human Resources, and the terms of 

the secondment appropriately documented. 

 

Page 42



(k) Contracts for legal representation by a lawyer (advocate, barrister, or 

solicitor) in arbitration or conciliation proceedings, judicial proceedings 

before the courts, tribunals or public authorities of an EU member state or 

third country or before international courts, tribunals or institutions. 

 

(l) Payments for legal advice given by a lawyer, or other expert opinion 

requested, in preparation for, or connected to, any of the proceedings 

mentioned in (k) above. 

 

(m) Payments for documents, document certification and authentication 

services, which may only be provided by notaries, or from the issuing 

authority, such as the General Registry Office, HM Passport Office. 

 

(n) Payments for legal services provided by trustees or appointed guardians 

or other legal services, the providers of which are designated by a court 

or tribunal. 

 

(o) Fees payable to Durham Constabulary to cover the cost of additional 

policing presence at public events or for temporary public safety 

purposes. 

 

(p) Appointment of independent planning inspectors nominated by the Royal 

Institute of Chartered Surveyors (RICS) under the NPIERS scheme. 

 

(q) Fees payable to a qualification awarding body for a professional or 

vocational qualification being undertaken by a Council Officer with the 

support of the Council. 

 

(r) Accreditation and membership, fees payable to an awarding or 

professional body for the accreditation or certification, or fees for services 

required to undertake a service being provided by the Council. 

 

(s) Fees payable for Royal Mail postage, including franking machine credits, 

and for financial transaction services required by the Council. 

 

(t) Agreements regarding the acquisition, disposal, or transfer of land (to 

which the Financial Procedure Rules apply), or: 

 

(u) The payment of grants to third parties. 

 

Page 43



NB: While grants are not covered by these CPRs, there are rules on the 

awarding of grants which do need to be observed. The Council cannot 

simply choose to treat a procurement as a grant in order to avoid 

conducting a competitive process. Officers should follow any guidance 

contained in the Advice Centre. 

 

(v) Where the Council is providing a payment processing facility to a non-

profit body, and where this does not make the Council the accountable 

body for the contracts or transactions in question.  

 

(w) Payments for services with regard to high needs or special education 

(including maintained schools Communities of Learning and Behaviour 

Panels), social care, health, safeguarding, or urgent operational needs, if 

in the opinion of the relevant Corporate Director it is considered to be in 

the Council’s interests or necessary to meet the authority’s obligations 

under relevant legislation. Use of this exemption by the relevant 

Corporate Director must be followed up with a Procurement Acceptance 

Report as detailed in Rule 19. 

 

(x) Those relating to residential and/or nursing care, or independent living 

services, to a person or persons to whom the Council has a duty or 

power to provide under the Care Act 2014, and other relevant legalisation 

relating to, homelessness, social care, health and safeguarding. Use of 

this exemption by the relevant Corporate Director must be followed up 

with a Procurement Acceptance Report as detailed in Rule 19. 

 

 

 

  

Page 44



Appendix 9 - Extract Protocol on Member Officer  

 

8. Information and Advice 

 

8.1 Requests for written information: 

 

(a) Members should be provided with adequate information about services 

or functions on which they may be called upon to make decisions or to 

scrutinise the decisions of others, or which affect their constituents.  

This information will normally be made routinely available by Officers in 

the form of reports, departmental plans, etc..  Members are encouraged 

to make use of existing sources of information wherever possible. 

 

(b) Written information supplied to a Member regarding the implications of 

current Council policies or containing statistical information about 

Council services may be copied to the relevant Cabinet Member. 

 

(c) The Leader of the Council, or Leader of any other political group, may 

request the Chief Executive or the relevant Corporate Director or 

Director, or other designated Officer, to prepare reports on matters 

relating to the authority for consideration by the group.  Such requests 

must be reasonable and should not seek confidential information in 

relation, for instance, to casework or personal details of applicants for 

services. 

 

(d) Wherever possible, such requests will be met.  However, if the Officer 

considers that the cost of providing the information, or the nature of the 

request is unreasonable or inappropriate, the request will be referred to 

the Chief Executive for determination, where necessary in consultation 

with the Leaders of the political group.  Requests will also only be met 

where they comply with data protection or other legal requirements. 

 

(e) Officer reports to political groups should be limited to a statement of 

relevant facts, identification of options and the merits and demerits of 

such options for the authority.  Reports should not deal with any political 

implications of the matter. 

 

8.2 Briefings: 

 

Page 45



(a) In order for them to discharge their responsibilities, Cabinet Members 

will be briefed by senior Officers (Corporate Directors, Director or Heads 

of Service) on service issues, proposals and policy development, either 

on an ad-hoc or regular basis, in accordance with the requirements of 

the Member involved. 

 

(b) The other political party groups may also have nominated Shadow 

Portfolio Holders and, if those leads so request, the relevant senior 

Officers will make themselves available to meet with them to brief them 

on service issues.  The other political party groups should be aware that 

at times the amount of information that Officers can share with them 

may be limited due to issues of confidentiality. 

 

(c) The content of these informal briefing sessions shall remain confidential 

as between Officers and the political group concerned. 

 

8.3 News Items: 

 

When an event or development occurs in the city which has or will have a 

significant impact on the Council or city residents, the Chief Executive 

will ensure that the Leaders of all political groups are informed as soon 

as possible. 

 

8.4 Ward Members: 

 

(a) Senior Officers should ensure that Ward Members are given information 

relevant to their ward where appropriate and in a timely manner.  As 

well as Ward Members know when there has been a potentially 

significant incident in their ward, Ward Members should be notified 

about the following types of issue: 

 

(i) Public consultation events affecting their wards; 

 

(ii) Proposed changes to services sited within their wards; 

 

(iii) Applications and proposals in their wards. 

 

(b) Ward Members should be invited by Officers to public events, such as 

openings, festivals etc. in their wards, regardless of political affiliation. 

 

Page 46



(c) If Officers organise a public meeting about a specific ward issue, all the 

Ward Members should be invited and given as much notice as possible. 

 

(d) If Officers undertake consultation about specific ward issues, they 

should consult the Members for that ward at the start of the 

consultation. 

 

(e) Ward Members should be told in advance about anything which 

particularly affects their ward and which is potentially controversial. 

 

(f) Potentially significant or controversial issues may include but are not 

limited to: 

 

(i) road closures whether planned or unplanned in an emergency (e.g. 

flooding); 

(ii) removal of bus stops (temporarily or permanently) 

(iii) removal of electric vehicle charging points. 

(iv) issues affecting the community raised by MP’s 

(v) matters which have an impact on a local community. 

 

8.5 Local Service Information 

 

(a) Information regarding local services is contained with the Members 

Handbook, which is provided to all Members during Induction / at the 

start of a new municipal year. 

 

(b) Information relating to specific Council services is published on the 

Council’s website.  If Members have queries in respect of services 

provided, these should be raised with Member Support / or the relevant 

Corporate Director in the first instance. 

 

8.6 Petitions 

 

(a) Details of any petitions received, which relate to matters in a particular 

Electoral Division will be sent to the Local Members(s).  Local Members 

will be kept informed on the progress / outcomes of such petitions. 

 

(b) Copies of all petitions and outcomes of petitions will also be provided to 

the Leader of the Council. 

 

Page 47



8.7 Officer attendance at Group Meetings: 

 

(a) The Leader of the Council or Leader of any other political group may 

ask the Chief Executive, Corporate Director or Director to give or 

arrange a private briefing for the party group on a matter of relevance to 

the Council. 

 

(b) Any briefings offered to or requested by a party group will be offered to 

the other party groups. 

 

(c) While Officers may attend political group meetings at which individuals 

who are not elected Members may be present, Members need to 

understand that those Officers’ ability to share confidential information 

with the Group may be limited.  In particular, Officers will not be able to 

share personal information with third parties present if to do so would 

cause the Council to breach the data protection requirements. 

 

(d) Officers must not attend regional and / or constituency party political 

meetings. 

 

(e) Decisions at group meetings are not Council or Cabinet decisions and 

party groups do not have any delegated authority to make formally 

binding decisions. 

 

8.8 Advice for Members with special responsibilities: 

 

(a) The Chair, Cabinet Members and Committee Chairs can ask the Chief 

Executive, Corporate Directors, Director and Heads of Service for extra 

background information and advice on different courses of action. 

 

(b) Although these Members have additional responsibilities and different 

relationships because of their more frequent contact with Officers, these 

Members must still respect the impartiality of Officers.  This includes not 

asking them to undertake work of a party political nature, or do anything 

which would prejudice that impartiality. 

 

(c) The Leadership of minority political groups can ask the Chief Executive, 

Corporate Directors, Director or Heads of Service for background 

information or more details about items coming to the next meeting of a 

Page 48



Committee or Cabinet.  The appropriate Chair or Cabinet Member will 

be entitled to receive the same information. 

 

(d) Party Group Leaders can ask for advice on presenting their budget in a 

correct and accurate form.  This will be given in confidence. 

 

8.9 Correspondence received by Members and Officers 

 

(a) where correspondence is sent to both Members and Officers, Officers 

will agree a single response with the relevant Members to ensure 

consistency of approach. 

Page 49



This page is intentionally left blank



County Council  

25 May 2022 

Appointment of Council Bodies and 
Allocation of Seats to Political Groups 
under Section 15 of the Local Government  
and Housing Act 1989 
 

 

Report of Corporate Management Team 

Helen Lynch, Head of Legal and Democratic Services 

 

Electoral division(s) affected: 
 
Countywide 

Purpose of the Report 
 

1 To appoint Committees and the Corporate Parenting Panel in 
accordance with the Council’s Constitution and within the terms of 
reference set out therein. 
 

2 To determine the allocation of seats among the political groups 
represented on the Council on Committees in accordance with the 
provisions of Sections 15 and 16 of the Local Government and Housing 
Act 1989.   

 

Executive summary 
 
3 The Council is required at its annual meeting to decide which 

committees and sub-committees to establish for the year, their size and 
terms of reference, and determine the allocation of seats to political 
groups represented on the Council on Committees in accordance with 
the provisions of Sections 15 and 16 of the Local Government and 
Housing Act 1989.   
 

Recommendation 

4 The Council is recommended to: 
 

(a)  appoint the Committees as shown in Appendix 2 in accordance 
with the Constitution and with the Terms of Reference set out 
therein; 

 

Page 51

Agenda Item 9



(b) in respect of the total number of seats on Committees, to 
determine the total allocation of seats to each political group 
(Appendix 2) and, subject to any necessary adjustments arising 
from that determination, agree the allocation of seats on each 
as shown in the Appendix 3; 

 
(c) authorise the Head of Legal and Democratic Services, in 

consultation with the relevant Group Leader, to determine any 
further necessary adjustments to be made to individual 
Committee and Sub-Committee allocations in accordance with 
the provisions of Sections 15 and 16 of the Local Government 
and Housing Act 1989; 

 
(d) authorise the Head of Legal and Democratic Services to 

allocate seats to political groups in respect of any sub-
committee which might be established from time to time, in 
accordance with the provisions of Sections 15 and 16 of the 
1989 Act and to make any necessary adjustments in respect of 
Area Action Partnership representation.   

 
(e) to appoint the Corporate Parenting Panel in accordance with 

the Constitution and with the Terms of Reference set out 
therein, and determine the allocation of seats to each political 
group (Appendix 2) and, subject to any necessary adjustments 
arising from that determination, agree the allocation of seats on 
each as shown in the Appendix 3; 

 
(f) to appoint the Health and Wellbeing Board in accordance with 

the Constitution and with the Terms of Reference set out 
therein, and agree the allocation of seats as shown in Appendix 
4.  

  

Page 52



 

Background 
 
5 Section 15 of the 1989 Act (Duty to Allocate Seats to Political Groups) 

sets out the requirements as to political proportionality on Council 
bodies and requires the Council, in allocating seats on committees and 
sub-committees of the Council to political groups, to give effect, so far 
as practicable, to the following four principles: 
 
(a) that not all seats on the committee/sub-committee are allocated to 

the same political group; 
 

(b) that the political group having a majority of seats on the Council 
should have a majority on each committee and sub-committee; 

 
(c) that, subject to (a) and (b) above, the number of seats on the 

Council’s committees and sub-committees allocated to each 
political group, bears the same proportion to the total number of 
such committee/sub-committee seats as the number of members 
of that group bears to the membership of the full Council, and 

 
(d) that, subject to (a) to (c) above, seats will be allocated on each 

committee and sub-committee in the same ratio as exists on the 
full Council.  
 

6 Section 16 of the 1989 Act (Duty to Give Effect to Allocations) requires 
the Council to give effect to the allocations determined as set out above 
in accordance with the wishes of the relevant group. 
 

7 Appendix 2 sets out a schedule of committees detailing the 
proportionate distribution of seats among groups (i.e. Labour Group, 
Conservative Group, Liberal Democrat Group, The Durham Group, 
Durham County Council Independent Group, Spennymoor and Tudhoe 
Independent Group, and the Unaligned Group).  
 

8 The distribution of seats between groups has therefore been calculated 
on a proportional split of the 126 seats. In each case the determination 
of seat numbers has followed the general principle of rounding up or 
down.  There has therefore been some adjustment to the resulting 
distribution in order to correct the consequences of this and to give 
effect to the principles in Section 15 of the 1989 Act as set out in 
paragraph 5 above.  The resulting allocation of seats is attached at 
Appendix 3. 
 

9 Appendix 2 also sets out how the seats on the Corporate Parenting 
Panel would be allocated on the basis of political proportionality as in-
line with previous years. The determination of seat numbers has 
followed the general principle of rounding up or down. Again, there has 

Page 53



been some adjustment to the resulting distribution in order to correct the 
consequences of this and to give effect to the principles in Section 15 of 
the 1989 Act as set out in paragraph 5 above. Appendix 3 sets out the 
resulting distribution of the 21 seats on the Panel. 
 

10 Subject to agreement by Council as part of its consideration of the 
annual review of the Constitution, it is proposed to change the 
composition of the Area Planning Committees so that seats are 
allocated on political proportionality rather than a split between local and 
countywide members.  The allocation of seats to Area Planning 
Committees set out in appendix 2, and the resulting distribution at 
Appendix 3 are in line with the proposed changes. 
 

11 The Head of Legal and Democratic Services will consult and re-allocate 
seats with the relevant parties should the membership of Area Action 
Partnerships require adjustment. 
 

12 The Health and Wellbeing Board which came into effect on 1 April 2013 
is a committee of the Council, and its composition is set out in Appendix 
4.  Council is required to confirm the appointment of the Board, and the 
allocation of seats, whose terms of reference are contained in the 
Council’s Constitution. 

 

 
 

 

Contact: Helen Lynch Tel:  03000 269732   
 Ros Layfield Tel:  03000 269708  

 
  

Page 54



 

Appendix 1:  Implications 

 
Legal Implications – As set out in the report to make appointments in line 
with the requirements of Sections 15 and 16 of the Local Government and 
Housing Act 1989.   
 
Finance – None specific within this report 

 

Staffing – None specific within this report 

 
Risk – None specific within this report 

 

Equality and Diversity/ Public Sector Equality Duty – None specific within 
this report 

 

Climate Change- None specific within this report 

 

Accommodation – None specific within this report 

 

Crime and Disorder – None specific within this report 

 

Human Rights – None specific within this report 

 

Procurement – None specific within this report 

 

Disability Issues – None specific within this report 

 

Consultation – As set out in the report 

 

Page 55



Committee Seats 

126 126 126 126 126 126 
126 

Labour  Con Lib Dem DIG DCCIG S&T Unaligned 

55 23 17 16 9 3 
3 

    43.65% 18.26% 13.49% 12.70% 7.14% 2.38% 2.38% 

                                
Corporate 
Overview and 
Scrutiny 
Management 
Board 

26 11 11.35 5 4.75 4 3.51 3 3.30 2 1.86 1 0.62 1 0.62 

Adults, 
Wellbeing and 
Health O/S 
Cttee 

21 9 9.17 4 3.83 3 2.83 3 2.67 2 1.50 1 0.50 1 0.50 

Children and 
Young 
People's O/S 
Cttee 

21 9 9.17 4 3.83 3 2.83 3 2.67 2 1.50 1 0.50 1 0.50 

Economy and 
Enterprise 
O/S Cttee 

21 9 9.17 4 3.83 3 2.83 3 2.67 2 1.50 1 0.50 1 0.50 

Env & 
Sustainable 
Communities 
O/S Cttee 

21 9 9.17 4 3.83 3 2.83 3 2.67 2 1.50 1 0.50 1 0.50 

Safer and 
Stronger 
Communities 
O/S Cttee 

21 9 9.17 4 3.83 3 2.83 3 2.67 2 1.50 1 0.50 1 0.50 

Appeals and 
Complaints 
Cttee 

30 13 13.10 5 5.48 4 4.05 4 3.81 2 2.14 1 0.71 1 0.71 

Highways 
Cttee 

21 9 9.17 4 3.83 3 2.83 3 2.67 2 1.50 1 0.50 1 0.50 

General 
Licensing & 
Registration 
Cttee 

27 12 11.79 5 4.93 4 3.64 3 3.43 2 1.93 1 0.64 1 0.64 

County 
Planning 
Countywide 
Cttee 

16 7 6.98 3 2.93 2 2.16 2 2.03 1 1.14 0 0.38 0 0.38 

Area Planning 
Cttee (North 
Durham) 

16 7 6.98 3 2.93 2 2.16 2 2.03 1 1.14 0 0.38 0 0.38 

Area Planning 
Cttee (Central 
& East 
Durham) 

16 7 6.98 3 2.93 2 2.16 2 2.03 1 1.14 0 0.38 0 0.38 

Area Planning 
Cttee (South 
& West 
Durham) 

16 7 6.98 3 2.93 2 2.16 2 2.03 1 1.14 0 0.38 0 0.38 

Pension Fund 
Cttee 

11 5 4.80 2 2.01 1 1.48 1 1.40 1 0.79 0 0.26 0 0.26 

Chief Officer 
Appointments 
Cttee 

11 5 4.80 2 2.01 1 1.48 1 1.40 1 0.79 0 0.26 0 0.26 

Audit Cttee 9 4 3.93 2 1.64 1 1.21 1 1.14 1 0.64 0 0.22 0 0.22 

Standards 
Cttee 11 

5 4.80 2 2.01 1 1.48 1 1.40 1 0.79 0 0.26     0 0.26 

TOTAL 315 137 137.51 59 57.52 42 42.47 40 40.02 26 22.50 9 7.49 9 7.49 

SEAT 
ALLOCATION   

138 plus 1 58 -1 42 0 40 0 23 -3 7 -2 7 
-2 

Corporate 
Parenting 
Panel 

21 9 9.17 4 3.83 3 2.83 3 2.67 2 1.50 1 0.50 1 0.50 

Statutory 
Licensing 
Cttee 

15 7 6.55 3 2.74 2 2.02 2 1.90 1 1.07 0 0.36 0 0.36 

 

Appendix 2:  Proportionate Distribution of Seats 
 

 

Page 56



 

  

 
Appendix 3:  Allocation of Seats  
 

  
Labour  Con Lib Dem DIG DCCIG S&T Unaligned 

55 23 17 16 9 3 3 

    43.65% 18.26% 13.49% 12.70% 7.14% 2.38% 2.38% 

Corporate 
Overview & 
Scrutiny 
Management 
Board 

26 11 5 3 3 2 1 1 

Adults, 
Wellbeing & 
Health O/S 
Cttee 

21 9 4 3 3 1 0 1 

Children & 
Young People's 
O/S Cttee 

21 9 4 3 3 1 0 1 

Economy & 
Enterprise O/S 
Cttee 

21 9 3 3 3 2 1 0 

Env & 
Sustainable 
Communities 
O/S Cttee 

21 9 4 3 3 1 1 0 

Safer & Stronger 
Communities 
O/S Cttee 

21 9 4 3 3 2 0 0 

Appeals & 
Complaints 
Cttee 

30 14 5 4 4 2 1 0 

Highways Cttee 21 9 4 3 3 2 0 0 

General 
Licensing & 
Registration 
Cttee 

27 12 5 3 3 2 1 1 

County Planning 
Cttee 

16 7 3 2 2 1 1 0 

Area Planning 
Cttee (North 
Durham) 

16 7 3 2 2 1 0 1 

Area Planning 
Cttee (Central & 
East Durham) 

16 7 3 2 2 1 0 1 

Area Planning 
Cttee (South & 
West Durham) 

16 7 3 2 2 1 1 0 

Pension Fund 
Cttee 

11 5 2 2 1 1 0 0 

Chief Officer 
Appointments 
Cttee 

11 5 2 2 1 1 0 0 

Audit Cttee 9 4 2 1 1 1 0 0 

Standards Cttee 11 5 2 1 1 1 1 
 0 

TOTAL 315 

138 58 42 40 23 8 6 

Corporate 
Parenting Panel 

21 9 4 3 3 1 0 1 

Statutory 
Licensing Cttee 

15 7 3 2 2 1 0 0 

Page 57



 

Appendix 4:  Composition of the Health and Wellbeing Board 

 

 Three representatives nominated by the Leader (currently being):-  
 

o Portfolio Holder for Adult and Health Services; 
 

o Portfolio Holder for Children and Young People’s Services; 
 

o Deputy Leader and Portfolio Holder for Finance 
 

 Representation from each Clinical Commissioning Group; 

 A representative from Local Healthwatch; 

 Corporate Director of Adult and Health Services; 

 Corporate Director of Children and Young People’s Services; 

 Corporate Director of Regeneration, Economy and Growth; 

 Director of Public Health; 

 Director of Integration (a joint representative of Durham County Council, 

and Health partners); 

 

and nominated representation from each of the following:- 
 

 Chief Executive of Tees Esk and Wear Valley NHS Foundation Trust;  

 Chief Executive of County Durham and Darlington NHS Foundation 

Trust;  

 Chief Executive of City Hospitals Sunderland NHS Foundation Trust;  

 Chief Executive of North Tees and Hartlepool NHS Foundation Trust;  

 Chief Executive of Harrogate and District NHS Foundation Trust; 

 Office of Police, and Crime Commissioner; 

 Office of County Durham and Darlington Fire and Rescue Service; 

 

Page 58



 

             

  County Council  

25 May 2022 

Appointments to Joint Bodies and  

Other Bodies 2022/23 

 

 

Report of Corporate Management Team 

Helen Lynch, Head of Legal and Democratic Services 

 

Electoral division(s) affected: 

Countywide 

Purpose of the Report 

1 To agree the appointments process of Members to Joint and Other 
Bodies. 

 

Executive summary 

2 The Council is required to agree at its annual meeting the 
appointments to the joint bodies and other bodies to which the Council 
are invited to nominate representatives. The background and criteria 
for appointing to these bodies is set out in paragraph 4 of the report. 

Recommendation 

3  The Council is asked to: 

(a) agree the allocation of seats on the County Durham Fire and 
Rescue Authority as detailed in Appendix 2. 

 
(b) agree the allocation of seats to the Business Durham Advisory 

board as set out in paragraph 4(b) to the report. 
 
(c) agree the allocation of seats on the Charter Trust as detailed in 

Appendix 3. 
 

 

Page 59

Agenda Item 11



(d) agree the allocation of seats on the Police and Crime Panel as 
detailed in Appendix 4. 

 
(e) determine the appointment for the ensuing year of the elected 

members of the Authority to serve on the Joint Audit Committee 
to assist the Police, Crime and Victims Commissioner, and Chief 
Constable, noting the nomination would be subject to approval of 
the Police and Crime Commissioner. 

 
(f) note the positions on the North East Combined Authority, and 

the North East Combined Authority and North of Tyne Combined 
Authority Joint Transport Committee, and authorise the Head of 
Legal and Democratic Services, in consultation with the 
appropriate Group Leader(s) to make appointments once the 
specifics of the determination of allocation to political groupings 
are advised to the council by the NECA secretariat. 

 
(g) authorise the Head of Legal and Democratic Services, in 

consultation with the appropriate Group Leader(s), to make 
appointments to the other outside bodies to which the Council 
are invited to nominate, in accordance with the following criteria:- 

 
(i) identify those organisations whose purpose is aligned to a 

specific Cabinet Portfolio, and nominate Members 
accordingly. 

 
(ii) identify local outside bodies from each electoral division 

and allocate those to local members. If there are more 
seats on an outside body than local members then the 
political balance would be applied. For those local bodies 
which are strategic in nature representation by a specific 
Cabinet Portfolio would be appropriate. 

 
If a consensus on the allocation of seats to Members 
within the electoral division cannot be reached, should the 
division be represented by Members from different parties 
and agreement cannot be reached, the party with the 
largest proportion of seats on the Council would be 
allocated the seat. 

 
(iii) the bodies which are not local to a particular electoral 

division, for example, those with a County or Regional 
remit, appointments be made in accordance with the 
overall political proportionality of the Council, except in the 
case of bodies providing services in one particular locality, 
in such circumstances the membership would be from that 
locality.   

 

Page 60



(h) authorise the Head of Legal and Democratic Services, in 
consultation with the appropriate Group Leader(s), to make any 
changes to memberships of the main outside bodies/ joint bodies 
approved by Council, which may become necessary during the 
course of 2022/23. 

 
 

  

Page 61



 

Appointments Process 

4 The Council is required to agree at its annual meeting the 
appointments to the joint bodies, and other bodies to which the Council 
is invited to nominate representatives. For those bodies not specifically 
referenced in paragraphs (a) to (f) below, the criteria for appointments 
is listed in paragraph (g). Where a joint body or other body has an 
annual meeting any changes of member representation would be 
effective from that date.  

 
(a) County Durham and Darlington Fire and Rescue Authority 

This is a joint body and seats are required to be allocated in 
accordance with political proportionality, as set out in Appendix 
2. 

 
(b) Business Durham Advisory Board 

The Council agreed at its meeting on 14 July 2021 that the 
membership of the Board for the municipal year 2021/22 be: 
 
(i)      The Chair of the Council, the Leader of the Council, the 

Deputy Leader of the Council and the Cabinet Portfolio 
Holder for Economy and Partnerships and the portfolio 
holder for Housing and Assets and to the Business 
Durham Advisory Board for the municipal year 21/22. 

(ii)     To appoint the Cabinet member for Neighbourhoods and 
Climate to support on the wider and strategic linkages 
between climate change and business for the municipal 
year 21/22. 

iii)      To appoint the Leader of the Labour Group to the board for 
the municipal year 2021/22 and include a provision for an 
official named deputy for if the Leader of the Labour Group 
is not available. 

 
It is proposed that the agreed composition for 2021/ 22 be the 
agreed position also for 2022/23. 

 
(c) Charter Trust of the City of Durham 

 
The Council agreed the composition of the Charter Trust on 20 
March 2013 as a result of the Electoral Boundary Review of 
County Durham.  The composition of the Trust is as set out in 
Appendix 3, and Council is required to confirm the appointments 
to the Trust. For the municipal year 2021/22 the Council did not 
appoint to the three additional trustee positions as listed in 
paragraph 4 of Appendix 3. 
 

Page 62



 
 

 
(d) Police and Crime Panel  

 
The Council agreed to the composition of the Police and Crime 
Panel, which is a joint committee with Darlington Borough 
Council, on 25 July 2012.  Its composition of 12 members is 
made up of 7 elected representatives of Durham County Council, 
3 elected representatives of Darlington Borough Council, and 2 
independent co-opted members. 

 
It is necessary to appoint members in accordance with 
legislation relating to political balance, and also as described in 
the Police and Reform and Social Responsibility Act 2011- the 
“balanced appointment objective”.  This means that Councillors 
on the panel represent all parts of the relevant police area, 
represent the political make-up of the relevant authorities when 
taken together, and have the skills, knowledge and experience 
necessary for the Police and Crime Panel to discharge its 
functions effectively. 

 
The 10 seats to elected members will remain 7 elected 
representatives of Durham County Council, and 3 elected 
representatives of Darlington Borough Council.  The political 
make-up of the relevant authorities when taken together is 
shown in Appendix 4.  

 
(e)  Representative – Joint Audit Committee  

At each annual Council meeting since 2013, Council has agreed 
the nomination from the Authority for a representative to serve 
on the Joint Audit Committee to assist the Police and Crime 
Commissioner and Chief Constable.  The Joint Committee’s 
membership was to be enhanced by the appointment of two 
elected members, one from Durham County Council and one 
from Darlington Borough Council. Councillor A Watson, Chair of 
the Audit Committee was nominated to this position at the 
annual council in May 2021. 
 
The appointee would receive reasonable travel and other 
expenses in connection with their role, and an allowance which 
would be reimbursed by the Police and Crime Commissioner, 
and Chief Constable.  Council is required to determine the 
appointment for the ensuing year.  
 

 

Page 63



 

(f) North East Combined Authority   

 
The Council is also required to agree appointments to the North 

East Combined Authority and to the North East Combined 

Authority and North of Tyne Combined Authority Joint Transport 

Committees. The following positions will be required to be 

appointed to however the NECA secretariat have not yet 

provided the special requirements for appointment including 

whether there are any specific requirements of allocations to 

political groupings on the council. In the circumstances it is 

suggested that once the position has been confirmed by the 

NECA secretariat, the Head of Legal and Democratic Services, 

in consultation with the appropriate Group Leader(s) make 

appointments. 

North East Combined Authority  

 One member to the Leadership Board; 
 

 A substitute member to the Leadership Board; 

 Two members to be representatives on the Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee  

 Two substitute members to the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee  

 One member to the Audit and Standards Committee  

 A substitute member to the Audit and Standards 
Committee  

 One member to the Economic Development and 
Regeneration Advisory Board  

 A substitute member to the Economic Development and 
Regeneration Advisory Board; 

North East Combined Authority and North of Tyne Combined 

Authority Joint Transport Committees 

 One member to the North East Joint Transport Committee; 

 A substitute member to the North East Joint Transport 
Committee  

 Two members to the North East Joint Transport Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee  

Page 64



 

 Two substitute members to the North East Joint Transport 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee  

 

 One member to the North East Joint Transport Audit 
Committee  

 

 A substitute member to the North East Joint Transport 
Audit Committee  

 
 

 
(g) Other Bodies 

In relation to the appointment to all other bodies to which the 
Council are invited to nominate the current criteria for 
appointment to these bodies is set out below:- 

 
The Head of Legal and Democratic Services, in consultation with 
the appropriate Group Leaders, is authorised to make 
appointments to the other bodies to which the Council are invited 
to nominate, in accordance with the following criteria:- 

 
(i) identify those organisations whose purpose is aligned to a 

specific Cabinet Portfolio, and nominate Members 
accordingly. 

 
(ii) identify local outside bodies from each electoral division and 

allocate those to local members. If there are more seats on 
an outside body than local members then the political 
balance would be applied. For those local bodies which are 
strategic in nature representation by a specific Cabinet 
Portfolio would be appropriate. 

 
 If a consensus on the allocation of seats to Members within 

the electoral division cannot be reached, should the division 
be represented by Members from different parties and 
agreement cannot be reached, the party with the largest 
proportion of seats on the Council would be allocated the 
seat. 

 
(iii) the bodies which are not local to a particular electoral 

division, for example, those with a County or Regional remit, 
shall be appointed to in accordance with the overall political 
proportionality of the Council, except in the case of bodies 
providing services in one particular locality, when the 
membership would be from that locality.   

 

 

Page 65



Contact: Helen Lynch Tel:  03000 269732   

 Ros Layfield Tel:  03000 269708  

 

  

Page 66



 

Appendix 1:  Implications 

 

Legal Implications – The Council is required at its annual meeting to decide 

the appointments to the joint bodies, and other bodies to which the Council is 

invited to nominate representatives. The allocation of seats to political groups 

must be in accordance with the provisions of Sections 15 and 16 of the Local 

Government and Housing Act 1989. 

 

Finance – None specific within this report 

 

Staffing – None specific within this report 

 

Risk – None specific within this report 

 

Equality and Diversity/ Public Sector Equality Duty – None specific within 

this report 

 

Climate Change- None specific within this report 

 

Accommodation – None specific within this report 

 

Crime and Disorder – None specific within this report 

 

Human Rights – None specific within this report 

 

Procurement – None specific within this report 

 

Disability Issues – None specific within this report 

 

Consultation – As set out in the report 

  

Page 67



 

Appendix 2:  Joint Body – County Durham and Darlington Fire and 
Rescue Authority 

 

 

Seats to be allocated in accordance with political proportionality  

 

  

Labour 

Group 

 

Con 

Group 

 

 

Liberal 

Dem 

Group 

 

 

The 

Durham 

Group 

 

Durham 

County 

Council Ind 

Group 

 

Spennymoor 

and Tudhoe  

Ind Group 

    

Unaligned 

Group 

County 
Durham 
and 
Darlingto
n Fire and 
Rescue 
Authority 

21 SEATS 

 

 

9 

(9.167) 

 

4 

(3.833) 

 

3 

(2.833) 

 

3 

(2.667) 

 

1* 

(1.500) 

 

 

0* 

(0.500) 

 

 

 0* 

(0.500) 

 

 

*The Durham County Council Independent Group, The Spennymoor and 

Tudhoe Ind Group, and The Unaligned Group all have equal shares to the 

last remaining seat. The seat will be allocated to one group in the first year, 

the next group in the second, and the next in the third, that being if all things 

remain as current.  

 

 

 

  

Page 68



Appendix 3:  Membership of the Charter Trust for the City of 
Durham 

 

Membership of the Charter Trust for the City of Durham 

1.  Members representing any of the electoral areas as set out below which 

remain wholly within the original Charter Trustees boundary:- 

 Belmont 

 Brandon 

 Coxhoe 

 Durham South 

 Elvet and Gilesgate 

 Framwellgate and Newton Hall 

 Neville’s Cross 

 Sherburn 
 

2.  The three Elected Members of the Deerness Electoral Division. 

3.  The Trustees representing the Trimdon and Thornley: Willington and 

Hunwick; and Esh and Witton Gilbert areas be one Member from each of 

these areas receiving the highest number of votes for their Electoral 

Division at the 2021 County Election.  

4.  The three additional Trustees representing the wider area are below. 

(NOTE: For the municipal year 2021/22 the Council did not appoint to the 

three additional trustee positions listed below). 

 The existing Chairman of the County Council (If the Chairman was a 
Charter Trustee as of right, the position would not be filled by another 
member)   

 A Cabinet Member 

 An additional Member appointed by the Leader of the Council. 
 

 

  

Page 69



Appendix 4:  Police and Crime Panel 

 

The seats must be politically proportionate to the total number of councillors 

in the Force area as shown in the next diagram (10 seats):- 

 

Authority 

 

Lab Con Lib 
Dem 

DIG DCCI
G 

S&T IG Darl 
Ind G 

Green 
(Darl) 

G 

Unalign
ed 
Group 

Ind 
Darl 

Total 

Durham  55 23 17 16 9 3   3  126 

Darlington 17 23 3    3 2  2 50 

Total 72 46 20 16 9 3 3 2 3 2 176 

 

There are two elected member on Darlington Borough Council who do not wish to 

be treated as part of a group, and therefore the distribution of seats between groups 

has been calculated on a proportional split of 174 seats, as opposed to 176.  

 

 Lab Con Lib Dem DIG DCCI
G 

S&T IG Darl 
Ind G 

Green 
(Darl) G 

Unalign
ed 
Group 

 

Proportion 

 

72/174 

 

46/174 

 

20/174 

 

16/174 

 

9/174 

 

3/174 

 

3/174 

 

2/174 

 

3/174 

 

% 

 

41.38% 

 

26.44% 

 

11.50% 

 

9.20% 

 

5.17% 

 

1.72% 

 

1.72% 

 

1.15% 

 

1.72% 

 

Actual 
Seats 

 

4 seats 

(4.14) 

 

 

 

3 seats  

(2.64) 

 

 

 

1 seat 

(1.15) 

 

 

 

1 seat 

(0.92) 

 

 

 

1 seat 

(0.52) 

 

0 seat 

(0.17) 

 

 

0 seat 

(0.17) 

 

 

0 seat 

(0.12) 

 

 

0 seat 

(0.17) 

 

 

 

 

Page 70



Allocation to each Authority: 

 

Durham County Council 

7 seats - Labour 3; Conservative Group 1; Liberal Democrat 1; The 

Durham Group 1; and DCC Independent Group 1 

 

Darlington Borough Council 

3 seats - Labour 1; Conservative 2. 

 

Page 71



This page is intentionally left blank



County Council 
 
25 May 2022 
 
West Auckland By-Election 
 

 

 
 

 

 
Statement of County Returning Officer 
 

 
Following a by-election held on 14 April 2022 in the West Auckland 
Electoral Division, I formally submit below a Statement for the information 
of the County Council showing details of the person elected as a County 
Councillor: 
 
 

 
ELECTORAL DIVISION 

 
NAME OF PERSON ELECTED 

 
 

WEST AUCKLAND 
 
 
 
 
 

 

George SMITH 
 
 
LABOUR 

 
 

JOHN HEWITT 
Returning Officer 

Page 73

Agenda Item 12



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	4 To confirm the minutes of the meeting held on 23 March 2022
	8 Annual Review of the Constitution - Report of Head of Legal and Democratic Services
	9 Appointment of Council Bodies and allocation of seats to Political Groups under Section 15 of the Local Government and Housing Act 1989 - Report of Head of Legal and Democratic Services
	11 Appointments to Joint and Other Bodies 2022/23 - Report of Head of Legal and Democratic Services
	12 Statement from the Returning Officer

